ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE LABOR AND COVMERCE STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 20, 2012
3:20 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Kurt O son, Chair
Representative M ke Chenaul t
Represent ati ve Dan Saddl er
Representative Steve Thonpson
Representati ve Li ndsey Hol nes
Representative Bob M1l er

VMEMBERS ABSENT
Representative Craig Johnson, Vice Chair
COW TTEE CALENDAR
HOUSE BI LL NO 251
"An Act relating to the Board of Veterinary Exam ners and the
practice of veterinary nedicine."
- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COWMM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 251

SHORT TI TLE: PRACTI CE OF VETERI NARY MEDI CI NE
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) DI CK, JOULE

01/17/12 (H PREFI LE RELEASED 1/6/12
01/17/12 (H) READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/ 17/ 12 (H L&C, FIN

01/ 20/ 12 (H SPONSOR SUBSTI TUTE | NTRODUCED
01/ 20/ 12 (H READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
01/ 20/ 12 (H L&C, FIN

02/ 15/ 12 (H) L&C AT 3:15 PM BARNES 124

02/ 15/ 12 (H Schedul ed But Not Heard

02/ 20/ 12 (H L&C AT 3:15 PM BARNES 124

W TNESS REG STER
REPRESENTATI VE ALAN DI CK

Al aska State Legislature
Juneau, Al aska

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -1- February 20, 2012



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 251 as one of the joint prine
sponsors of the bill.

ANNETTE KREI TZER, St af f

Representative Al an D ck

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified and answered questions on HB 251.

DON HABEGER, Director

D vision of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing
( DCBPL)

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
( DCCED)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Testified and answered questions during the
di scussi on of HB 251.

JAMES DELKER, Veterinarian
Sol dot na, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

VI CKY THOVAS
Fort Yukon, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 251.

LI Z HOFFMAN, Veterinari an

Christian Veterinary M ssion

Veneta, O egon

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

BOB SEPT, Veterinarian

Bering Sea Animal Cinic

Chugi ak, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

DENALI LOVELY, Veterinarian
Fai r banks, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 251.

DOUG BOVERS
Nenana, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

STEVEN MERSCH, Veterinarian
Sol dot na, Al aska

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 2- February 20, 2012



PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

HAYDEN E. NEVILL, Veterinarian

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251
and suggested the bill be kill ed.

SARAH LOVE, Veterinarian
Fai r banks, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 251.

MYRA W LSON, Veterinarian

Anchorage Animal Care and Contro

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

TI M HUNT, Veterinarian
Sout h Marquette, M chigan
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

DR. JON BASLER, Veterinarian

Del egate; National Al aska Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA)
Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HB 251.

PAl GE HEYWOOD, Veterinari an
Fai r banks, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 251.

MORGAN PETERMAN, Veterinarian

Veterinary Skills Director,

Humane Soci ety of Veterinary Medical Association (HSVMA)
Unknown, M chi gan

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 251.

ANG E FI TCH
Fai r banks, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 251.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
3:20: 42 PM
CHAIR KURT OLSON called the House Labor and Commerce Standing

Commttee neeting to order at 3:20 p.m Represent ati ves
Chenaul t, Saddler, Thonpson, MIller, and O son were present at

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 3- February 20, 2012



the call to order. Representative Holnmes arrived as the neeting
was in progress.

HB 251- PRACTI CE OF VETERI NARY MEDI CI NE

3:21: 05 PM

CHAI R OLSON announced that the only order of business would be,
SPONSOR SUBSTI TUTE FOR HOUSE BILL NO. 251, "An Act relating to
the Board of Veterinary Exam ners and the practice of veterinary
medi ci ne. "

3:21:26 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ALAN DI CK, Al aska State Legislature, offered his
belief that this issue represents one of the strongest

constituent issues he has encountered thus far. This bill has
cone about as a result of painful experiences, in particular,
represents what has not worked for rural veterinarians. He

stated that his constituents were so frustrated with the Board
of Veterinary Exam ners (BVE) that they wanted to create a rura

veterinarian board. He characterized this  bill as a
governmental response to the people. He offered his belief that
if the state were on trial there would not be any evidence
submtted to denonstrate that the state cares about animals in
the Bush. He acknow edged that Al askans wel cone volunteerismin
many aspects of Alaska, but in ternms of rural veterinarian care
the volunteer effort has been stonewall ed. Vol unteers from
i nternational organizations would be glad to have opportunities
to work in rural Alaska and provide clinics to offer spay and

neuter clinics or rabies shots. However, the political climte
is not favorable. He stressed that the Bush is not |ooking for
great veterinarian care, but is seeking regular care. He

recalled that as a dog nusher he admnistered his own rabies
shots, which is no longer allowed. He highlighted a significant
nunber of dogs roamin rural Al aska since people can't afford to
fly animals to and fromtheir towns.

3:25: 03 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -4- February 20, 2012



REPRESENTATI VE DI CK stated he promised his constituents that he
would work to achieve a veterinary care system that works for
t hem He enphasized the goal is to achieve safe conditions for
prof essional veterinarian volunteers to travel to Bush Alaska in
order to perform services, such as spay and neuter clinics, and
to admi nister rabies shots without political hassles. This bill
has strong Al aska Federation of Native (AFN) support, including
a resolution passed at their |ast neeting. He urged nenbers to
create a level playing field or at least to create one to play
on.

3:26: 15 PM

ANNETTE KREI TZER, Staff, Representative Alan Dick, Alaska State
Legislature, stated that the genesis of the bill cane from a
constituent conplaint about a specific veterinarian and fromthe
| oss of affordable care in rural Al aska. She said that she has
reviewed the past legislative audits and annual reports to
determ ne what the Board of Veterinary Exam ners (BVE) has done
to address the issue of rural veterinary care. Despite a
perm ssive statute, AS 08.98.057, enacted to nonitor the
standards of veterinary provided in the state, no one in the
department could renenber when such a request was made to the
BVE. She pointed out that the statute has been in place since
1981. She suggested due to the angst in the Bush over the
surrender of a veterinarian's license, that it seens reasonable
to expect the departnent and the BVE would have exercised their
statutory responsibilities. In fact, the past president of the
BVE told the Fairbanks News Mner in February 2010 that, "the
board doesn't track veterinarians unless sonmeone conplains about
them™"™ Thus it is not clear how many veterinarians work in the
Bush. She highlighted the past president was not aware the BVE
could nonitor the availability of veterinary services despite
intentions to fill the departure of two veterinarians in the
Interior is significant. The frustration caused by the exit of
the second veterinarian, who had served Interior Alaska through
Tanana Chiefs Conference, resulted in the AFN passing a
resolution calling for a separate rural veterinarian board.

M5. KREI TZER speaking as a fornmer rural health care provider
understood rural Al askans' frustration. She offered her belief

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 5- February 20, 2012



that medical professionals are sonmetinmes willing to offer a
clinic if they could hunt and fish, often at the provider's
conveni ence and not necessarily when the community needs the
care. She enmphasized the need for veterinary care in rural
Al aska is acute. She pointed out that frequently the Al aska
State Veterinary Medical Association (AKVMA) has expressed
concern about anything that mght create a |ower standard of
care for rural residents. This exenplifies the m sunderstanding
of how rural Al askans face risks every day. When conpared to
the Lower 48, Alaska's Energency Medical Technicians routinely
practice a level above their certification due to circunstances
in rural Al aska. She also offered her belief that nost people
will stop using an inconpetent practitioner. In April 2005, the
Board of Dental Examiners (BDE) ruled that the dental health
aide therapist services constituted the unlawful practice of
dentistry in Al aska, which was |ater overturned. She suggest ed
many parallels between the dental health aide therapists and
rural veterinary services. She cited an article in which the
head of the American Dental Association expressed his fears. At
the tinme he said, "lI've had patients in ny chair have heart
att acks. |'ve had people have strokes. |"ve had people that
have life-threatening allergic reactions to nedications they
took before they cane in the office. You do not have a |ot of
time to think when you react to that." She could relate to that
as an EMI 11, who previously served in a renbte comunity. She
suggested that the ADA was worried about nore than safety. A
recent survey of over 100,000 ADA nenbers showed that nenbers
felt sonme uncertainty over about their economc stability. She
related her understanding that is also true in Alaska wth
respect to veterinarians over economc stability.

3:30: 38 PM

M5. KREITZER related her understanding sonme veterinarians in
Al aska had to close their doors due to conpetition and econom c
condi ti ons. The sponsor has worked with the Governor's office
to ensure that the board has nenbers with a rural perspective
and are conmitted to nake it easier for pro bono care in Al aska.
In addition to the licensed out-of-state veterinarians who have
been able to practice outside the purview of the BVE for 30-40
years, health care workers not I|icense in Al aska have been

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 6- February 20, 2012



providing health care within the Native health care system
Regi stered nurses, pharnacists, and others provide this care,
she st at ed. She offered that a senior policy advisor at the
I ndian Health Service believes veterinarians fall into the sane
category of providers of health care. The Western Interstate
Comm ssion on Health Education (WCHE) and the U S. Public
considers veterinary health crucial to the overall health of
conmuni ti es.

3:32:19 PM

M5. KREI TZER provided a sectional analysis of the bill. Section
1 would nake certain that a person may volunteer veterinary
services and receive coffee, housing, and neals or other
conpensation. She pointed out that a letter in nmenbers' packets
fromthe BVE states that regulations do not prohibit it, but she

said that is incorrect. She enmphasi zed that |egislative |ega
agrees that the BVE interprets this, but current regul ations and
statutes do not address conpensation. She highlighted that

licensed out-of-state veterinarians can practice outside the
scope of the BVE. Section 1 would broaden this exenption to in-

state licensed veterinarians. She enphasi zed that under the
bill the volunteer services would be perforned by I|icensed
vet erinari ans. However, Section 1 would also allow these pro

bono licensed veterinarians to identify thenselves as such. She
reiterated that wunder current law, although they can practice
pro bono, veterinarians cannot use their earned title, which is
confusing to the public.

M5. KREITZER continued, stating that |icensed veterinarians,
while acting in a pro bono capacity, are exenpt from the
courtesy |icense requirenents of the veterinary board and
oversight of the board. However, out-of-state veterinarians who
are already exenpt may not use the title. Under the bill,
vol unteers are not inmmune fromlegal action resulting from gross
negl i gence, reckl ess or i ntentional m sconduct whi |l e
vol unt eeri ng services. Nothing in the bill says |licensed

veterinarians shouldn’t neet the standard of <care that they
swore an oath to when they graduated from Veterinary School,
whi ch she read, as foll ows:

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -7- February 20, 2012



Being adnmitted to the profession of veterinary
medicine, | solemly swear to use ny scientific
know edge and skills for the Dbenefit of society
through the protection of animal health and welfare,
the prevention and relief of aninmal suffering, the
conservation of animal resources, the pronotion of

public health, and the advancenent of nmedi cal
knowl edge.
| wll practice ny profession conscientiously, wth

dignity, and in keeping wth the principles of
veterinary nedical ethics.

| accept as a Ilifelong obligation the continua
i mpr ovenent of ny pr of essi onal know edge and
conpet ence.

3:34: 27 PM

M5. KREITZER turned to Section 2. She stated that currently
there is no statutory allowance for a sinple surrender of a
veterinarian |license for soneone who wants to retire. Al t hough
this section doesn’'t require the board to determ ne conpetency
for reinstatenent, the regulation at 12 AAC 68.048 which
determ nes good standing is sufficient to cover physical/nenta

inmpairnment or civil or crimnal issues. This proposed section
addresses the process for a surrendered license, and how a
surrendered license wthin a specific tinmeframe may be
rei nst at ed. A person may only surrender under this section if

not under investigation and the surrender is not due to a
sanction in Al aska or any other state. The only tine surrender
of a license is nentioned in either the departnent's centralized
licensing or the BVE statutes is in reference to surrendering in
lieu of sonething else. If a veterinarian renews a |icense and
then decides he or she wants to retire, this section lays out
the process for that. If the ASVMA or the board has a better
suggestion for that process, the sponsor is willing to work with
themon it, she stated.

3:35:31 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 8- February 20, 2012



M5. KREI TZER turned to Section 3. She pointed out that the BVE
and the ASVMA have criticized this section by saying it could
lead to substandard care; however, this language is the sane
| anguage used for human nedical providers. The sponsor used an
exanple from the Board of Medical Exam ner statutes under AS
08.64.326-331 to clarify that the BVE may not base a finding of
“pr of essi onal i nconpet ence” solely on unconvent i onal or
experimental treatnents in the absence of harmto an ani nal

3:35: 59 PM

M5. KREI TZER explained that Section 4 sets out the conplaint
process. Conplaints may only be filed by persons who own or are

responsible for the animal seen by the veterinarian. A
conplaint may only be filed against a |icensee who treated the
ani nal . Conmpl ai nts rmust include docunmentation of the alleged

m streatment, be made under oath, be filed within six nonths of
the date of the act or om ssion, and nust be sent to the subject
of the conplaint allegation.

M5. KREITZER related that wunder this provision, during the
investigation the departnent shall interview, under oath, the
conplainant, the licensee, and any technician or assistant to
the veterinarian. The investigation nust determ ne whether the
conplainant followed aftercare procedures and mnust include in
its report all relevant information and excul patory evidence.
Finally, board nenbers wthin five mles of a licensee’'s
pri nci pal pl ace of business my not participate in a
disciplinary hearing relating to that |icensee.

3:37:11 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked what types of conditions would

warrant surrender of a license that is l|ater reinstated. He
suggested that it seens |like this would address a tenporary
surrender.

M5. KREI TZER offered her belief that people interpret statutes
in different ways. She explained this provision would cover
instances in which veterinarians renew their |icenses, but
decide to retire before their |icense has | apsed. She offered

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -9- February 20, 2012



t hat current statutes do not include a provision for
veterinarians who have decided to retire, yet still hold active
| i censes. These veterinarians may wi sh to help their neighbor
and this would allow themto do so without incurring liability.
The provision is not a tenporary license, although veterinarians

could reinstate their licenses if they chose to do so. I n
further response to Representative Saddl er, she said the sponsor
is wlling to work with the ASVMA on anot her approach to address
this issue. She agreed that people are not "banging at the

door" to get their |icenses reinstated.
3:39: 27 PM
CHAIR OLSON offered his goal is to have the veterinarians, the

Bush, and the sponsor reach comon ground, which might result in
a bill that no one likes.

3:39: 52 PM

REPRESENTATIVE M LLER referred to page 3, Ilines 26-27, to
"unconventional or experinmental nature ... in the absence of
denonstrable physical harm..." He suggested the | anguage

seened broad and asked for the intent of this provision.

M5. KRElI TZER responded that the |anguage the bill parallels is
exi sting |anguage for the nedical profession. She identified
this subparagraph as the definition of what constitutes
pr of essi onal i nconpetence. The intent of the definition is to
el imnate conpl aints based solely on econom cs.

3:41:35 PM
REPRESENTATI VE M LLER asked for an exanpl e.

M5. KREI TZER related her understanding that a veterinarian may
need to perform an operation in rural Alaska on a dining room

t abl e, in a gym or in an anbulance bay, which is
unconventi onal . She did not think anyone would think of this
treatment as experinental treatnent. She recalled a single
conpl ai nt in whi ch a veterinarian conpl ai ned anot her

veterinarian did not shave an area for the procedure adequately,

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 10- February 20, 2012



criticizing that the shaved area was too snmall of an area. She
suggested if any procedure was perfornmed differently than
anot her veterinarian mght normally do, that veterinarian may
consider the care as unconventional or experinmental. She stated
that this language is neant to provide a definition wthout
being explicit in the kind of care or the way a veterinarian
perfornms surgeries in rural Al aska.

3:43: 25 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLER recalled three commobn procedures provided
by veterinarians as spaying, neutering, and adm nistering rabies
vacci nati ons. He inquired as to whether those procedures could
be specifically identified in the bill and perhaps the bill
could also identify other types of routine procedures.

MS. KREI TZER said the sponsor would not be opposed to an attenpt
to do so.

3:44:12 PM

REPRESENTATIVE M LLER referred to page 2, line 29, to the
license surrender provision which indicates a |icense could be
reinstated if the licensee is in good standing. He asked how a
licensee could be in good standing if the veterinarian no |onger
is |licensed.

M5. KREI TZER responded that this |anguage is current regulation.
In further response to Representative MIller, she offered to
provi de the specific citation.

3:45: 03 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER referred to page 1, line 11, to the
reference to "country" and related his understanding that BVE
expressed concern that allowing sonmeone Ilicensed in another

country to volunteer services nmay result in a |ower standard of
care.

M5. KRElI TZER responded that the language is the bill drafter's
convention, but the sponsor did not intend to include other

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -11- February 20, 2012



countri es. She said the l|anguage was left in the bill for
di scussi on purposes since the BVE and ASVMA has expressed sone
interest in reciprocity with Canadi an veterinari ans.

3:46: 33 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER referred to page 2, line 19 to
"nonnmonetary donations or other nonnonetary consideration.” He
said the |anguage seened broad. He asked whether a cap or

reasonabl e expenses shoul d be consi der ed.

M5. KREITZER referred to page 2, lines 16-19 to the definition
of "unconpensated practice.” She said it does not include
practice for which the person receives only reinbursenent for
actual expenses incurred. This |language was designed to
encourage nmore pro bono clinics in Al aska. She suggested
per haps sonmeone would provide a pro bono clinic if they received
rei nbursenent for aviation (AV) gas and materials were donated.
She explained that nonnonetary donations or other nonnonetary
considerations are broad enough to cover coffee, |odging, and
ot her things. She related her understanding that sone angst
exi sts. She recalled a scenario previously discussed even
suggested offering a bear hunt for conpensation; however that
woul d entail purchasing tags and neans soneone would need to

take tinme out for a hunt. She reiterated the sponsor's goal to
encourage people to go to the Bush and provide veterinarian
services. She reported that the bill drafter pointed out there
is a difference between nonnonetary donations or nonnonetary
consideration, as well. She admtted she thought she saw the
line between the two but the concept was still vague in her
m nd.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER said that the translation between noney
and services is pretty direct. He asked how far the travel
expenses would extend and whether it would include travel from
pl aces as far away as Mam or Bel gi um

3:49:47 PM

M5. KREI TZER answered no, but admtted there is no limt in the
bill. She was wunsure why a |limt would be necessary. She

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -12- February 20, 2012



identified veterinarian services in rural Al aska as a long-term
pr obl em She highlighted that the clinics in question are pro
bono clinics and the people receiving the services are not being
charged for them She cautioned that this bill does not
reference | ow cost clinics, which are offered by sone
veterinarians or groups. The sponsor did not want to limt the
creative types of things that people mght consider. She also
recalled her experiences in attracting people to serve at a
clinic in Cold Bay as difficult.

3:50: 57 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked for an estinate of the value of
travel and services from Anchorage to the Bush to offer a pro
bono clinic.

M5. KREI TZER said she did not know. She suggested a practicing
veterinarian may be able to provide an estimate. She cauti oned
against limting travel costs. She provided an exanmple in the
community of Cold Bay, in which the USCG turned over housing to
the community to attract a practitioner. She related things she
did to provide food, including donating crab and halibut for
his/her freezer, buying groceries at Costco, and holding
potl ucks. She suggested that placing a value on the comopdities
woul d detract the conmmunities from finding creative solutions
for nonnonetary donati ons.

3:52:59 PM

CHAIR OLSON referred to the | anguage on page 3, which appears to
mrror the nedical st at ut e, except gross negligence or
[ repeat ed] negligent conduct has been added [lines 23-24]. He
asked for the intent of this |anguage.

M5. KREITZER offered that the sponsor did not want gross
negl i gence or gross conduct to be linked or be notivated by an

econoni c conpl aint. She offered to continue to review the
| anguage.
3:54: 08 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 13- February 20, 2012



DON HABEGER, Director, Division of Corporations, Business, and
Pr of essi onal Li censi ng (DCBPL) , Depart ment of Comer ce,
Communi ty, & Econom c Devel opnent (DCCED), introduced hinself.

CHAIR OLSON asked for a report on any activity that has
generated investigations in the departnent.

MR. HABEGER suggested [the bill] my be a response to an
investigation that the division reviewed, but did not conplete
since the licensee surrendered his or her license and did not
undergo the process.

3:55: 50 PM

CHAIR OLSON asked who would absorb the costs of an
i nvestigation.

MR. HABEGER replied costs for any investigation are distributed
back to the |icensees. He referred to AS 08.010.065, which
mandates the division to essentially examne any costs and
distribute cost to licensees during their biennial |[|icense
renewal .

CHAI R OLSON asked for the nunmber of |icensees.

M5. KREI TZER, in response to a question, answered that there are
300 veterinarians |licensed in Al aska.

3:57:34 PM

CHAI R OLSON asked whether a veterinarian needs a firm |license,
in addition to their professional license in order to practice
in Al aska.

MR. HABEGER advised that if a veterinarian has a corporation,
the corporation would register wth the state, and the
i ndividual would also need a business |icense. In further
response to Chair O son, he agreed it would pertain to all sole
practitioners.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -14- February 20, 2012



MS. KRElI TZER asked to correct the total number of veterinarian
licenses and offered that there are 350 current |icensees. I n
response to a question, Ms. Kreitzer agreed that t he
veterinarians many not necessarily be practicing veterinarians.

3:59:21 PM

REPRESENTATI VE THOVPSON rel ated his understanding that there are
numer ous unenpl oyed veterinarians in the state. He asked
whet her the division has any know edge of this.

MR. HABEGER answered that the division does not track that
information and Ilimts its tracking to licenses and the
| i censure process.

MS. KRElI TZER added that she has been nade aware at |east one
veterinarian in Anchorage has closed his or her door. She said
she does not know how that bears on veterinarians that wish to
do pro bono work.

4:00:40 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER recall ed that some veterinarians practice
outside the purview of the VBE. He asked Ms. Kreitzer to expand
on this.

M5. KREI TZER responded that some out of state veterinarians do
not cone under the purview of the BVE so as long as these
professionals do not <call thenselves a veterinarian. She
clarified that a licensed veterinarian from another state can
perform veterinary care Wwthout conpensation - al t hough
conpensation is not defined in current statute - but the
veterinarian may not use title "veterinarian." |In response to a
guestion by Chair dson, M. Kreitzer elaborated that a
veterinarian many not use the initials that normally follow a
veterinarian's title.

4:01: 54 PM

REPRESENTATI VE  SADDLER related a scenario in which a
veterinarian licensed in Washington cones to Al aska but doesn't

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -15- February 20, 2012



collect for veterinary services. He questioned whether the
veterinarian could practice veterinary mnedicine and not be
subj ect to sanctions or oversight by the BVE

M5. KREI TZER rel ated her understanding from reading the statute
and legal opinion from legislative legal that the veterinarian

coul d do so.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked how preval ent that type of activity
is in Al aska.

M5. KREI TZER said she was not sure how prevalent it is given the
way the statutes are currently witten.

4:02:59 PM

CHAIR OLSON asked for an estimate on how many people HB 251
woul d i npact.

M5. KREI TZER responded that the second tier of work she has done

was to identify inpacts in villages. She offered her belief
that one veterinarian served 72 villages, but that veterinarian
is no longer practicing in Al aska. She presuned many vill ages

would seek help and surmsed that since rural Alaska has
sporadic veterinary services, with long waits in between visits,
the progress that was nmade nmay have been | ost.

4:04: 14 PM
CHAI R OLSON asked for clarification on the zero fiscal note.

MR. HABEGER acknow edged that the division has submtted a zero
fiscal note since the division thinks it can absorb costs with
existing staff.

4: 05: 00 PM
JAMES DELKER, Veterinarian, stated that he is the Past President
of the Alaska State Veterinary Medical Association (AKVMY),

currently serves as a board nenber. He related that he
di scussed his concerns with Ms. Kreitzer and some conmon ground

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 16- February 20, 2012



exists, but sone disagreenent also exists. He said he
represents concerns of the AKVMA, whose nenbership consists of

70 percent of licensed veterinary professionals in Al aska. He
related his understanding that this bill presents an enotional
issue with respect to providing veterinarian care to rural
comunities. He enphasized that the AWA is also concerned
about the veterinary care in rural Al aska. The AKVMA' s

executive conmttee has followed this issue and HB 251,
sponsored by Representative D ck. He said the AKVMA supports
the sponsor's efforts to increase availability of veterinary
care in rural communities in Al aska.

DR. DELKER highlighted that the AKVMA has significant concerns
with the bill as currently drafted. First, the BVE was forned
to protect Al askans, but HB 251 effectively strips the BVE of
any oversight or recourse especially for those individuals who
want to practice gratis veterinary nedicine in the state.

Second, the bill also proposes to give equivalent rights and
privileges to veterinarians from other countries, wher e
standards of training and health care standards are far below
what would be considered acceptable here. Third, the bill

removes the rights of Alaskans to report harnful activities to
animals sinply because they do not own the animals affected.
Additionally, while the intent of the bill would be to enhance
veterinary services in Al aska, the AWA believes the bill as
currently witten fails to protect Al askans, and would | ower the
standard of veterinary nedical care statew de.

4:07:37 PM

DR. DELKER acknow edged that field nedicine often involves |ess
than ideal settings. He deferred to other veterinarians who are
online to better address the issue. He acknow edged that Bush
medicine is different from what one would expect in a hospital
structure; however, veterinarians are still expected to provide
conpetent veterinary services within a basic standard of care
and using the best of their ability given the circunstances.
Under current statute, only veterinarians performng grossly
substandard nedicine would be investigated by the BVE or be
prosecuted under crimnal animl abuse statutes. He repeated
that the BVE would only investigate veterinarians performng

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -17- February 20, 2012



grossly substandard nedicine. He also acknow edged that current
statutes do not prohibit veterinarians from providing gratis
veterinary nedicine or offering free veterinary nedicine in
Al aska. In his experience, he has yet to find anyone who woul d
conplain about soneone providing | ow cost care or free
veterinary care to truly renote Bush conmmunities.

4:09:10 PM

DR. DELKER asked to touch on specific points of the bill. He
referred to Section 1, wth respect to persons practicing
wi t hout conpensati on. He said that veterinarians |icensed in

the US. nust obtain an AKVMA accredited degree, but other
countries' progranms nay not necessarily be equivalent to an
AKVMA degr ee. He suggested that in certain devel oping nations,
vast differences in standards and teaching standards exist and
this |anguage does not guarantee the person is conpetent to
practice veterinary services in the US no matter what the cost

of services he/she provides. He referred to subsection (b),
whi ch woul d renove the BVE from any oversight of unconpensated
vet eri nari ans. He interpreted this to mean unconpensated

veterinarians would not be subject to the laws and regul ations
that pertain to the veterinary practice since the BVE only
regul ates licensed veterinarians. He expressed concern that
unconpensated veterinarians, not |icensed in Al aska, would not
be subject to the laws and regulations pertaining to the
standards of practice of veterinarian nedicine, such as pharnmacy
di spensing or nedical records. He pointed out that wthout
requiring tenporary licensing, the BVE would not have any record
of who is practicing veterinary nedicine in Al aska. He surm sed
t hat unconpensated veterinarians not licensed in Al aska would
not have to provide their qualifications unless a civil or
crimnal case was filed against them

DR. DELKER turned to subsection (c), which references
conpensation. He said it seened reasonable that actual expenses
incurred should include cost of travel, 1lodging, nedica
supplies, but allowing unconpensated veterinarians to receive
"ot her nonnonetary consideration” seens anbiguous and open to
abuse. He suggested this also creates the potential for tax
evasion and the form of other nonnonetary donations could far

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 18- February 20, 2012



exceed the expense of any veterinary services provided. He
offered his belief that this |anguage should provide clear
definitions or sonme I|imt to nonnonetary conpensation. He
questioned whether this subsection is even necessary given
conversations he has held wth BVE nenbers, who point out that
current regul ations do not prohibit veterinarians from receiving
shelter, a warm bed, or conplinmentary neals.

4:11: 27 PM

DR. DELKER turned to Section 2, to the surrender and
reinstatenent of veterinarian |icenses. He was unsure of the
necessity of this proposed change. Currently, a veterinarian
can surrender his/her license and |eave the state w thout being
guestioned. |If a veterinarian plans to return, the veterinarian
would pay the biennial fee and mnmmintain continuing education
(CE) requirenments and his/her license would renmain active so
long as the veterinarian is not subject to an investigation or
prosecution in another state. He offered that he was unsure of
t he purpose of the section. In other states a veterinarian can
pay a lesser fee for an inactive |icense. He noted that he
hol ds an inactive license in Mnnesota and can reactivate it at
any time he wshes to return to Mnnesota to resune his
veterinary practice. He offered a willingness to work with the
sponsor on this section on the intent and suggested the BVE
could help draft proposed regul ations.

4:12:17 PM

DR. DELKER turned to Section 3, which relates to professiona
i nconpetence and related his wunderstanding this section was
adopted from the human nedicine statutes; however, the |anguage
does not mrror the nedical statutes, but places a nuch higher

burden of proof as conpared to the human nedical statutes. He
was unsure of the reasoning for this. He offered his belief
that sone of the proposed changes are somewhat vague and
danger ous. He was unsure that practicing unconventional and
experimental nedicine without liability is a good idea. He

asked who woul d define unconventional or experinental nedicine,
noting the vague reference is potentially prone to abuse by
veterinarians who could cite this |anguage as an excuse for

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -19- February 20, 2012



provi ding negligent nedicine. He related that the AKVMA
believes all practitioners should provide care within a m ni num
safe standard regardless of the location of the veterinary
practi ce.

4:13:19 PM

DR. DELKER referred to Section 4, with respect to conplaints,

i nvestigations, and hearings. He said the AKVMA does not
believe it is ethical or legal to deprive citizens the right to
report m sconduct by a professional. Additionally, this section
seens to provide an effective statute of limtations - a six

nmonth wi ndow to report mal practice. He described a situation in
which a client presented him with an animal about nine nonths
after it had undergone an incorrectly perfornmed surgery. Under
this bill, the owner would not have the right or responsibility
to report the person, nor would he as a professiona
veterinarian have the right to report deficient veterinary care
due to the statute of limtations in this section. He related a
scenario, in which a person from another country could provide
unconpensated services, but nmay have caused serious harm to an
animal. He highlighted that under the |anguage in Section 4, if
the owner or caretaker does not conplain the action would be
considered acceptable, which he found inappropriate. He
gquestioned whether an owner in rural Al aska would have the
resources to track down a professional who has since returned to
hi s/ her country or another state. He further asked what |ega
remedies an Alaskan resident would have in this type of
situation. He acknow edged the intent of HB 251 is good, but he
did not see how the bill protected Al askans.

4:15: 02 PM

DR. DELKER summarized that the AKVMA applauds the sponsor's
efforts to increase the veterinary care in Bush conmunities. He
offered his belief that to do so is conplex and would involve
nunmer ous soci o-econom ¢ obstacles. The AKVMA is not aware of a

single veterinarian in the state who would obstruct a
professional wlling to go into truly rural comunities and
provide veterinary care at no cost. However, that care nust

neet basic standards and not harm those being hel ped.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 20- February 20, 2012



Regardl ess of conpensation, all veterinarians mnmust be held to
the sanme basic standards of care. The AKVMA does not believe HB
251, as witten, protects rural comunities from substandard

care. The AKVMA supports the intent of the bill but cannot
support it as witten. He said the AKVMA will support any bil
that will inprove access to proper veterinary care, but only if

such legislation does not |ower the standards of veterinary
health care in the state.

4:16: 25 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER recalled his earlier testinony that
present regulations do not prohibit offering veterinarians
shel ter, warm bed, and conplinmentary neals.

DR. DELKER responded that those coments were based on the
conversations he previously held with the BVE, but he did not
recall the specific reference. He reiterated his belief nothing
currently prohibits this activity. In further response to
Representative Saddler, he thought Dr. Eastman so advised him
al t hough he was uncertain.

4:17:48 PM

VI CKY  THOVAS, representing herself, said she is a past
envi ronnmental manager for the Native Village of Fort Yukon. She
testified in favor of HB 251. She offered his belief that
without this bill there will continue to be a dangerous |ack of
veterinary care in the villages. She related as past nanager of
the tribe of Fort Yukon, she has observed firsthand the public
health risk to this and other vill ages.

4:18: 58 PM

LI Z HOFFMAN, Veterinarian, Christian Veterinary M ssion, stated
she is affiliated with an organi zation, the Christian Veterinary
M ssi on. She said she lived and worked as a veterinarian in
Al aska for 24 years and was a resident from 1980-2004. She
expl ai ned that her organization received a request from Hooper
Bay to offer a clinic. This comunity advised her they had not
had any veterinary services for 11 years. Resi dents expressed

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -21- February 20, 2012



concern in the village about aninal popul ations, too nany dogs,
rabi es, and dog bites. The resident explained that police would
often forewarn residents they would shoot any dogs not tied up.
Her organization's goal is to provide services, generally at no
cost, in hopes that repeated visits to communities nmay encourage
others to go into training as veterinarian technicians or as
veterinari ans. She reported that she did not nmintain her
Al aska |icense after she left; however, she did take a |icensed
Al aska veterinarian with her to clinics. She would like to
reinstate her |icense; however, it is very expensive to do so
and she would need to retake the veterinary exam nation. She
tallied the cost at $900. She would be happy to purchase a
tenporary |icense, but was advised by the departnent that she
did not qualify for a tenmporary license since the services she
planned to offer did not qualify as a special event. She
reiterated the barrier as the expense to reinstate her license.
She explained that her organization does not want to conpete
wth veterinarians within the state, nor would they offer
services in a town in which veterinary services are already
being provided, but would limt their veterinary care to renote
vi |l | ages. She concluded that she would like the Christian
Veterinary Mssion to be allowed to provide services nore easily
within the legal framework of the state.

4:22:13 PM

BOB SEPT, Veterinarian, Bering Sea Animal dCinic, provided a
brief history, such that he came to Alaska in 1978, obtained his
veterinarian |icense, and worked in renote comunities. He said
he has operated a clinic in Bethel since 1981 and provides

regular care for up to a week at a time in rural Al aska. He
related that he travels to Aniak, has a Bush clinic in King
Sal ron, and Naknek, and has also traveled to EgegiKk. He

reported that he practices within the state rules, maintains his
CE, and finds it very easy to provide high-level care in the

Bush. He acknow edged that rural Al aska services are costly,
and he sonetines nmust bring all of his equipnent and assistants
al ong. This effort has allowed him to provide reasonable

veterinary care at a reasonable cost since 1981. He offered his
belief that the crux of this matter is that veterinarians do not
have any issues with pro bono work so long as the veterinarian

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -22- February 20, 2012



is licensed and under the purview of the board. He suggested to
do otherwise would not protect aninals and people in these

communi ties. He reiterated that maintaining his veterinarian
license is reasonable. He further reiterated that he was not
aware of any veterinarian with issues with respect to pro bono
work so long as the veterinarian is licensed [in Alaska]. He

further enphasized that the veterinarians should operate under
the sanme rules, regulations, and standards of care as al
veterinarians who currently practice in the state.

4:24: 46 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked for an estinate of the percentage
of veterinary work that is exclusively to spay, neuter, and
adm ni ster vacci nations.

DR. SEPT responded about 60 percent. He suggested one problem
is that people ship in animals in to the clinic. He estimated
the demand for these services as being fairly high. He reported
that he tries to offer spay and neuter services nonthly or
guarterly.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER inquired as to whether he could suggest
any conprom se that would allow pro bono spay and neuter clinics
with | ess oversight.

DR. DELKER answered no. He offered his belief that people think
the procedure is a sinple one wuntil their animl dies. He
pointed out that the animal nust wundergo anesthesia, the
veterinarian nust have proper instrunentation, and use a
reasonable facility. He opined that it would not be good to
| essen the standard of care. He was puzzled why a pro bono
person could not obtain his/her license, since he did not find
it is difficult to obtain and maintain a veterinary license in
Al aska.

V. KREI TZER <clarified that the bill is <clear that a
veterinarian nmust be licensed in Al aska or by another state in
order to provide pro bono work. She acknow edged the current
bill includes other countries, too, but it is likely that

| anguage wi || be renpved.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 23- February 20, 2012



DR. DELKER offered his belief that veterinarians should be
licensed in the state so the BVE has purview over the |icensee.

4:27:40 PM

DENALI LOVELY, Veterinarian, asked to speak against HB 251. She
works in North Pole and currently serves as the president-elect
for the Alaska State Veterinary Medical Association (AKVMVA)

She was born and raised in Fairbanks and attended veterinary
school out of state, but canme back to practice in Al aska. She
acknow edged she is very aware of needs of veterinary services
in Bush communities. She has worked in these communities as a
biology technician and has also received telephone calls
requesting veterinary advice. She said she supports rural needs
since they are badly needed; however she does not support the

bill in its entirety since the bill would Iimt the rights of
Al askans to hold professionals accountable. She referred to
Section 4, noting that the inpacts of actions by veterinarians
go well beyond famly nenbers. She also reported that

veterinarians vaccinate to prevent disease and are responsible
for the herd health of food aninmals. Under HB 251, only a
person responsible for the care of an animal nmy file a
conpl ai nt. Additionally, under the bill if a food animl was
given antibiotics illegally or wth inappropriate wthdrawal
times people cannot conplain about antibiotic residue in the
animal's neat. She advised that an inproperly stored rabies
vaccine could be ineffective, but would affect hunman public
health issues if a person contracted rabies. She enphasi zed
that veterinarians are held accountable to all animals in the
state and this bill does not hold veterinarians to the proper
| evel . The purpose of professional I|icensing boards is to
safeguard the health, safety, and welfare of Al askans. Thi s
bill would renpbve this by inposing restrictions of citizens to
file conplaints against a menber to the respective professiona
boar d.

4:30:31 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked whether any rural needs were un-
served needs.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 24- February 20, 2012



DR. LOVELY answered yes.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER inquired as to her suggestions as the
incom ng president of the AKWA to address these needs.

DR. LOVELY wondered why Native corporations have not hired

veterinarians in rural areas they represent. She agreed it is
expense to provide care since the costs to travel to rural
Al aska are high. She reiterated that it 1is expensive to

practice in rural Alaska and hard to get conpensated for the
wor k. She suggested that having a veterinarian enployed by the
state or a Native corporation would be a great way to provide
access and address the lack of care. Under current |aw,
nonprofits can provide services, but the comunity nust rely on
organi zers of any clinic event to ensure that the person is
i censed. She acknow edged that those I|icensed in other
countries may make m st akes si nce their accreditation
requirenents my be less than in the US.  She further
acknow edged the potential for those credentials to be |apsed or
non- exi stent. She suggested the state or Native corporations
may be able to provide the services.

4:32:56 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked whether any expectations exist for
veterinarians to performpro bono work in rural Al aska.

DR. LOVELY answered no. She related her own practice as a busy
practice plus she also has famly and other responsibilities.
She said she does not have the tine due to the aforenentioned
constraints. She related her wunderstanding the mlitary has
provi ded sonme veterinary work in rural Al aska.

4:34:17 PM

DOUG BOWNERS, stated he is a 37-year resident of Al aska. He has
been a dog nusher since 1977. He offered his belief that this
issue cones down to conpetition and pressure, which is why
veterinarians stop conducting clinics in rural Al aska. He
recalled a veterinarian who provided pro bono Bush care at | ow

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 25- February 20, 2012



or no cost. He also recalled his childhood in Pennsylvania, and
remenbered veterinarians often practiced out of their pickups.
These veterinarians took care of horses, cows, and other

ani mal s. Wth respect to standards of care, the regulations
di scuss the degree of skill by average menbers in communities in
which veterinarian practices. He suggested the regulatory

| anguage | eaves a lot of room for interpretation. He said that
terms such as average are hard to define, but also relate to the
setting. He pointed out some veterinarians are skilled and sone

are not. He enphasized that the state needs to create an
environnent that is conducive to having veterinarians provide
rural services wi t hout fear of repri sal from other

veterinari ans.

MR. BOWERS suggested the problem arises due to a lack of clarity
in the standards. He suggested if conplaints brought are
frivol ous, the conplainant should be held accountable. He said
sonme of the concern |ocal veterinarians have is due to perceived

financial harm He highlighted that rules do not address
conpetition so it is perfectly legal for a veterinarian to build
a practice by offering |ower-cost veterinary service. He
encouraged veterinarians to examne their own practices. He
offered his belief the BVE does not have the authority to
regul ate conmer ce, specifically any conpetition bet ween
vet erinari ans. He related that it is within the scope of the
BVE to make changes necessary for consistent veterinary care and
he hopes as the bill noves forward, these sane goals can be

addressed. He further suggested one way to encourage additiona
pro bono work in the Bush is to reduce license fees or provide
equi pnent and supplies for veterinary services. He wondered if
per haps sone surplus federal nedicines may be available or may
be languishing in clinics that could be diverted to rural areas.
He surm sed the veterinary nedicines are not nuch different than
heal th care nedici nes for humans.

4:38:36 PM
STEVEN MERSCH, Veterinarian, said he thought the topics have

been cover ed. He related his understanding that pro bono work
woul d not require Alaska |licensure.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 26- February 20, 2012



CHAI R OLSON answered yes, that is correct.

DR. MERSCH inquired how drugs are controlled for practice in
rural comunities by pro bono veterinarians.

CHAI R OLSON said he did not know.

DR. MERSCH asked if soneone is injured, who will cover workers
conpensation, and if the sponsor must cover it.

CHAI R OLSON answered that workers' conpensation is assessed only
on payroll.

4:40: 36 PM

DR. MERSCH said he agreed with Dr. Delker, that nunerous holes
exist in the bill as currently witten. He agreed w th Doctor
Sept that that the state has responsibilities to provide a
prof essi onal standard of care.

4:41: 04 PM

HAYDEN E. NEVILL, Veterinarian, stated that he supports the
concept of provi di ng nore veterinary services in Bush
communities in Alaska. He offered his belief many veterinarians
are willing to provide pro bono work if their travel and
supplies are paid for to conduct clinics in rural Al aska. He
enphasi zed that the barrier to care is not sone |egal problem
but is due to a lack of supplies and travel costs. He asked to
go on the record to offer his services several nonths a year to

provi de care. He agreed that one cannot tell the quality of a
veterinarian by examning a degree; however, the BVE has the
ability to review credentials. He expressed concern to delete

t he BVE oversight. He offered his belief that passing HB 251
woul d drastically change the veterinary standard of care in the
state. Wiile he did not suggest the sanme veterinary standard of
care in the bush, he specifically wanted to ensure any rabies
vaccine used is active, that the drugs given to food aninals are
safe for humans to eat, and to control how veterinarian dispense
dangerous or controlled drugs so these drugs don't fall into the
hands of children. He also wanted to ensure pet owners are

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -27- February 20, 2012



informed in the event their pet 1is receiving experinental

treat nent. This bill would allow any of those aforenentioned
itens to happen. Thus, this bill would limt the ability to
protect Al askans. He characterized the bill as dangerous to
public health and wunfair to Al askans. He concluded by
suggesting that the commttee kill this bill and instead should
work with Alaska veterinarians to develop a real plan for rura
veterinary care - a forward thinking plan that gets things

acconpl i shed.
4:44: 09 PM

SARAH LOVE, Veterinarian, stated that she is the only smal

animal internal nedicine specialist in Alaska who practices in
rural and urban Al aska. She pointed out she is also a dog
musher and a rural EM. She has traveled to nore than 20
Al askan villages as an educator or a veterinarian. She agreed
there is a huge lack of veterinarian care in rural Al aska. She
suggested that this needs to be addressed to al so address public
heal t h. She acknow edged earlier testinony and the excellent
points nmade by veterinarians today. She comended people who
provide rural veterinarian health care. She said she opposes HB
251. She did not think that a halibut trip would pay her
nort gage. She agreed that state funding or funding from Native

corporations would be helpful to fulfill the needs of Native
villages, but pointed out that not all villages are Native
vil | ages. She enphasized that she opposes the bill and thinks

it limts the rights of Al askans.
4:46: 16 PM

MYRA W LSON, Veterinarian, Anchorage Aninal Care and Control,
stated that she has been the secretary of the AKWA for eight

years. She said did not want to repeat points nmade, but
acknowl edged the good testinony provided today. She has been
licensed in Alaska since 1981. She recalled hearing people
di scuss public health. She said she often works with the state
veterinarian and epidem ol ogi st. She stated that rabies
vaccines were nentioned earlier and noted that the regulations
require a i censed veterinarian to adm ni ster rabi es
vacci nati ons. Therefore, people who are not |icensed, but are

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 28- February 20, 2012



adm ni stering vacci nes woul d i nval i date t hese vacci nes.

Further, rabies vaccines adm nistration by anyone not |icensed
in Alaska as proposed wunder this bill wuld also not be
consi dered valid. She highlighted staying current in Al aska

hel ps veterinarian professionals have a famliarity wth
energi ng diseases, such as salnonella, which a person just
comng to the state nay not understand. She al so expressed
concern that veterinarians not adhering to Al aska's standards of
practice would not be required to nmaintain records so those

records would not be available to clients. She said such
veterinarians would not need to adhere to regulations, |abel
prescription, or provi de nmedi cal records, whi ch she
characterized as an injustice to citizens of Al aska. She
commented on |ocal pro bono work. She suggested that at |east
6-7 clinics spay and neuter animals arriving at the Anchorage
Animal and Control. She noted that the organization has

received aninmals locally, the Matanuska-Susitna area, and Kenai.
She said that veterinarians are wlling to help if their
expenses are covered. Lastly, she suggested two renedies:
tenporary |icensure, which she did not think HB 251 addressed
adequately, but believed the AKMWA would be willing to place on
their agenda or discuss at their next annual neeting. She did
not think that the problem would be addressed overnight. She
reiterated that many interested parties can work to address ways
to help serve these underserved areas in Al aska.

4:51:10 PM

TIM HUNT, Veterinarian, stated that he is licensed in M chigan
and Al aska. He said he has worked during the Iditarod and has
seen many dogs, including non-sled dogs. He related that he is
constantly approached to help out due to the |ack of care. He
agreed that the problem nust be addressed to get veterinarian

care to rural communities. He offered his belief that many
veterinarians have worked admrably, such as Dr. Sept and Dr.
Lovel y. He suggested that the state needs to take this to a
higher level and not rely just on mlitary veterinarians to
visit conmunities one or two days a year. He acknow edged t hat
this is not a new problem He was unsure if this bill is the

correct approach, but he stressed that sonething needs to be one

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 29- February 20, 2012



on sone level, as the perception in the Lower 48 is that no one
really is stepping up to the plate.

4:52:42 PM

DR. JON BASLER, \Veterinarian, stated that he has been in
practice in Al aska since 1985. He worked in Anchorage the first
three years, and was paid by the North Slope Borough for three
years from 1987-1990 to provide veterinarian services to al
communities within the North Slope Borough. He acknow edged
this has concept has been nentioned several tinmes, the NSB has
deep pockets. He pointed out that aninmals are often |ast on the
list, but sone responsibility from Native, Regional, or Village
corporations to try to hire veterinarians to serve rural Al aska.
He offered that salaries were paid by the NSB, but the
veterinarians basically provided pro bono work to |oca
residents since the care to local residents was essentially at
no charge. He did not want to repeat testinony, but agreed
with Dr. WIlson that it seened |ike one of the sticklers is
renoving all oversight since nost veterinarians in Al aska do not
object to pro bono work perforned. He identified the main
thrust is to identify and facilitate groups, such as nationa
organi zati ons who often provide the mssion-type work that rmuch
of rural Al aska entails. He acknow edged that | ocal
veterinarian are not required to perform pro bono services, but
he surm sed that nearly everyone practicing in Al aska does pro
bono work since they often have clients who cannot afford
servi ces.

4:56: 00 PM

PAI GE HEYWOOD, Veterinarian, stated that she is a snmall aninal
practitioner. She testified in opposition to HB 251. She
concurred with the majority of the points nmade. She offered her
belief that Al aska veterinarians can and are willing to provide
care to rural communities if travel, lodging, and supplies are
covered. She offered that she often speaks on the phone to
villagers and conmunicating with EMIs on how to provide first
care to animals that are not able to immediately be seen by a
veterinarian, which is pro bono work. She expressed concerns
with the bill sections that [imt conplaints agai nst

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE - 30- February 20, 2012



veterinarians to client conplaints since clients are not always
aware of poor practices, such as poorly |abel ed nedications, and

m suse of nedication, or use of expired vaccines. She al so
related that sone people do not have the know edge or resources
of how to file or pursue conplaints. She concluded that

veterinarians should be held accountable to their clients and
t heir peers.

4:58:15 PM

MORGAN  PETERMAN, Vet eri nari an; Veterinary Skills Director,
Humane Society of Veterinary Medical Association (HSVMA), stated
that the HSVMA is a national veterinarian nedical association
with a focus on animal health and welfare. One of HSVMA' s
mssions is to provide veterinary nedical care to aninmals in
need in renote areas of the U S. She stated that during 2011,
HSVMA's rural area veterinary services (RAVS) provided high
quality care to over 8,600 aninmals |acking essential services.
She stated that HSVMA supports HB 251 and its goal of addressing
the |ack of veterinary services to renote popul ations in Al aska.
Additionally, the HSVMA recognizes the difficulty in addressing
these needs given the current veterinary licensing |aws, which
limt those who can serve renote populations to veterinarians
licensed in Al aska. She related that the lack of care is not
only an issue for the well-being of the animals, but poses

significant health concerns for the renote communities. She
expl ai ned that her organization has worked to address simlar
issues on Anmerican Indian reservations in the Lower 48. The

RAVS tries to provide high quality free care and education on
many of the reservations with the goal to reduce infections,
provi ding population control through sterilization surgeries,
limting stray animals, and decreasing dog bites and the need
for rabies treatnment in humans. She enphasized that RAVS is an
excel l ent exanple of how an above standard quality of care can
be practiced in an atypical setting. The organization does not
believe the standard of care should be conpromsed, it 1is
critical to recognize the requirements to practice quality
veterinary medicine and have an open mnd in assessing rural
situations since they may neet these requirenents in creative,
yet safe and effective ways. She said she hopes the bill
addresses these needs by allowing veterinary practitioners wth

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 31- February 20, 2012



up to date and those who hold licenses in the US. in good
standing to be permtted to volunteer their services under the
laws set forth by the BVE and the state. These services should
be allowed in areas of docunmented needs, where veterinary care
is geographically or financially unavailable to the population

receiving the service. In closing, she said she hopes the
| egislature wll support the goals of HB 251 and hope the
legislation wll result in increased veterinary care for

under served ani mal popul ati ons in Al aska.
5:01:19 PM

ANG E FITCH stated she is a consunmer and supports HB 251. She
said she is concerned with the lack of veterinary care in
villages. She offered her support for HB 251 since without the
bill, there will continue to be a lack of care in the villages.
It is cost prohibitive for villages to request a veterinarian
cone to the area. This bill would provide an alternative. In
terms of the standard of care that is conprom sed under the
current situation under the BVE This bill would bring nuch
needed veterinarian care to areas in rural Alaska that do not
have the care.

[HB 251 was hel d over. ]

5:04:10 PM

ADJ QURNIVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Labor and Commerce Standing Conmittee neeting was adjourned at
5:04 p.m

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 32- February 20, 2012



